
Scrutiny
Meeting papers

Police and Crime Panel

Tuesday 14 March 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:6 March 2017     

Police and Crime Panel

Tuesday 14 March 2017 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Stephen Bace

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Stephen Bace

3  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8) Stephen Bace

4  CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE Cllr Roger 
Wilson

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT (Pages 9 - 16)

To include an update on the Chief Constable position. 

Paul Trott

6  HMIC PEEL INSPECTION UPDATE 

Inspection documents can be found at:

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/peel-
assessments/peel-2016/gloucestershire/ 

Paul Trott

7  COMMUNITY SAFETY REVIEW - UPDATE (Pages 17 - 62)

Please see within the paperwork the slide which will be used as a 
reference during this update.  

In addition, the final report of the Community Safety Review has 
been reattached for members’ information. This report was received 
by the Panel in September 2016. 

Richard Bradley

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/peel-assessments/peel-2016/gloucestershire/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/peel-assessments/peel-2016/gloucestershire/


    

INFORMATION ITEMS

Next Meeting

The next meeting of the Police and Crime Panel will be held on 14 July 2017 at 10am at 
Gloucestershire County Council.

Subsequent meetings:

8 September 2017
8 November 2017

Membership –  Cllr David Brown, Cllr Barry Kirby, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and 
Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman) Cllr Julian Beale, Cllr Gerald Dee, Cllr Collette Finnegan, Cllr Rob 
Garnham, Cllr Bruce Hogan, Cllr Karen McKeown, Cllr Helena McCloskey, Cllr Chris Nelson and 
Cllr Keith Pearson

Added Members - Adrian Connor (Independent Member) and Martin Smith (Independent member)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204 /fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p64 of the 

Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Police and Crime Panel held on Friday 3 February 2017 at 
the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT: Cllr Julian Beale, Cllr David Brown, Cllr Gerald Dee, Cllr Collette Finnegan, 
Cllr Rob Garnham, Cllr Helena McCloskey, Cllr Karen McKeown, Cllr Keith 
Pearson, Nigel Robbins, Martin Smith, Cllr Brian Tipper. 

Substitutes: Cllr Lesley Williams for Cllr Barry Kirby.

In attendance: Stephen Bace, Richard Bradley, Chris Brierley, Stewart Edgar, 
Peter Skelton, Martin Surl, Paul Trott, 

Apologies: Cllr Chris Nelson, Cllr Bruce Hogan, Adrian Connor

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No additional declarations.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

2.1 The Minutes were agreed as a correct record. 

In response to an action raised at the previous meeting it was agreed that the Panel 
would consider the HMIC Peel inspection documents at the next meeting. Members 
noted the comments relating to the legitimacy inspection detailed that 
Gloucestershire required improvement. 
ACTION Paul Trott

2.2 The Panel was aware of the announcement that the Chief Constable Suzette 
Davenport would be retiring at the end of April. The Chairman outlined what an 
important and successful appointment she had been and wished her well for the 
future. The Commissioner outlined that he was sorry she was moving on and that a 
process would be undertaken to find a successor. A Police and Crime Panel 
meeting would need to be arranged so a confirmatory hearing could be held. The 
Panel also understood that ACC Richard Berry was working on a national role on 
Cyber Crime. There would be a lot of change at the top end of the constabulary 
over the subsequent twelve months. 

2.3 The Chairman explained that following the withdrawal of Avon and Somerset from 
the tri-force collaboration, the meeting of PCP Chairs had been suspended.   

2.4 The ‘Blue light collaboration’ scrutiny task group had met with the Cabinet Member 
for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure at the County Council to understand the 
Council’s perspective on fire and rescue service governance. The Commissioner 
would be invited to meet with the group over the coming weeks. The Commissioner 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

explained that it was Police and Crime Commissioner who would drive the agenda 
for police and fire following the Policing and Crime Bill becoming an Act. He 
expressed concern that at a meeting with the Chief Executive and Leader of the 
County Council they had not engaged with him to discuss these developments and 
that he felt he had been ‘rebuffed’. He clarified that he was not making a pitch to 
take control of the Fire Service but that the status quo could not continue. He stated 
he was available to speak to the County Council on this. 

3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT 

3.1 Paul Trott introduced the report which outlined the activities of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office. 

3.2 With regards to collaboration he explained that there had been a negotiation 
process with Wiltshire and Avon and Somerset and it had been a surprise when 
Avon and Somerset informed them that they didn’t want to invest any more time in 
the process. Since then, the Commissioner had met with the PCC from Wiltshire 
and they were keen to work together where possible. The focus going forward 
would likely be on ICT to lay the foundation for closer working in the future.  

3.3 The existing Specialist Services collaboration with Avon and Somerset would 
continue and was not affected by the decision. In response to a question it was 
explained that air support was provided nationally.

3.4 With regards to the Policing and Crime Act, options were open to the Commissioner 
but no decision had been taken as to whether he wished to engage with 
consultants and put together a business case.  

3.5 The implications of legislation relating to police complaints, discipline and IPCC 
reform were outlined within the report. The Commissioner’s Office was working with 
the Constabulary to consider the options. Some members stated that they were 
pleased to see that the legislation would make it easier and more accountable in 
the way complaints were handled. The Commissioner’s Office and Force were 
waiting on additional guidance and secondary legislation, with the full model likely 
to be implemented in 2018. 

3.6 There was frustration that the Force Control room figures within the report were still 
not up to date, although members were informed that satisfaction figures were 
improving. The Chairman asked how the Commissioner was able to hold the 
Constabulary to account without having up to date statistics. In response the 
Commissioner explained that he was provided with the raw data which had yet to 
be analysed and published. He met with the Chief Constable privately and within 
his Governance Board when she had explained how the Constabulary was working 
to improve this area and that it was a standard agenda item at each meeting. He 
was satisfied that work was underway to make improvements. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

3.7 The Panel was informed that the Lansdown Road sale would be completed in 
February. In addition, the Police were now located in the former Tourist Information 
Office in the Municipal Buildings in Cheltenham to provide a town centre presence.  

3.8 One member asked a question regarding the governance of the Fire and Rescue 
Service. He suggested that as the County Council had engaged with consultants 
and the Commissioner would be speaking to them, did any further consultants need 
to be employed if the Commissioner chose to take it forward? The Chief Executive 
of the Commissioner’s Office explained that the Office had not seen the terms of 
reference for the consultants; if the research was useful than it would be taken on 
board. The Commissioner explained that he would keep an open mind but that it 
was for him to lead on the work if he chose to take it forward. He stated that the 
County Council were required by law to provide any information he requested on 
this. He clarified he wanted the right outcome for the people of Gloucestershire. 

3.9 One member asked the Commissioner for his view on violent crime in Cheltenham 
following a number of headlines in the local media. The Commissioner explained 
that he did not feel the headlines were representative of the night time economy in 
Cheltenham which he believed was well managed. 

 

4. POLICE AND CRIME PLAN - DELIVERY PLANS 

4.1 Richard Bradley, Deputy Chief Executive, circulated the published Police and Crime 
Plan and introduced members to the delivery plan within the agenda pack. This 
delivery plan had been put together by the six priority leads. The Panel would have 
an opportunity to receive presentations from each lead from July 2017. In response 
to concerns regarding the acronyms within the document, a glossary would be 
provided to members.  
ACTION Richard Bradley

4.2 In addition to the six priorities within the plan, there was also ‘Martin’s approach’ 
which included a number of challenges that the Commissioner wanted to deliver on.

4.3 Neighbourhood policing was a key area going forward, with it being suggested that 
this had potentially eroded over time. A review had started in October 2016 and 
included rural policing. The principles within neighbourhood policing was about 
establishing good relationships with communities and connecting with agencies and 
partners and being honest about what service could be provided. A strength based 
approach would be undertaken to establish what communities could do for 
themselves, what could be achieved with the help of the police, and what only an 
agency approach could achieve. 

4.4 One member expressed her concern that both modern slavery and radicalisation 
were not heavily featured within the plan. Particularly in the context of the 
community safety review, she felt there was a need to work better in partnership 
and that this was not reflected within the plan. She also gave the example of 
domestic homicide reviews. In response it was explained that the plan focussed on 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

the key priorities that the Commissioner wished to take forward. Partnership 
working was a key part of that plan. With regards to modern slavery and 
radicalisation, the Commissioner was comfortable that the Constabulary was 
working in those areas as they were a part of the strategic policing requirement that 
was mentioned within the plan. 

4.5 Work following the Community Safety Review was ongoing and an item would be 
brought to the next Police and Crime Panel meeting to outline progress with 
regards to this. 
ACTION Richard Bradley

4.6 One member brought up her concerns regarding hate crime towards the police. She 
wanted reassurance that there were processes and support in place for any officer 
who had been subjected to this. In response the Commissioner explained that he 
would get back to the Panel with detail on this. It was explained that there had been 
an increase in assaults to officers and that steps were being put in place to improve 
the support provided. 
ACTION Martin Surl

4.7 Richard Bradley stated that in response to Cllr Finnegan’s query relating to 
‘dementia friendly city’ and the involvement of the Commissioner’s office, that he 
would put her in touch with Phil Sullivan.
ACTION Richard Bradley

4.8 There was some discussion on the role of the ‘specials’ within the Constabulary. 
Concern had been expressed that there was a reliance on volunteers to take on 
roles that paid officers should undertake. The Commissioner stated how proud he 
was of the ‘specials’ within Gloucestershire and how they had the same respect as 
fully paid officers. Members were aware of the rank structure and insignia agreed 
by the Chief Constable and that this had been a positive step.

4.9 With regards to rural policing, one member asked whether there had been any 
further development around police visibility following meetings with rural 
communities. The Commissioner explained that with fewer officers it was difficult to 
ensure the same level of service, but that a big piece of work was underway to 
understand communities and that rural policing was an intrinsic part of this.

4.10 In response to questions on the priority leads, it was explained that new Chief 
Superintendent Joanna Smallwood would be leading on Accessibility and 
Accountability. One member asked that when the Panel received a presentation by 
the lead that the success of recruitment and training and support was provided. 

5. PROPOSED GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE PRECEPT 2017/18 

5.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner introduced the report which proposed that:

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Funding for the proposed £107.22.8m revenue budget will require a police related 
Band D Council Tax element of £214.49. This represented an increase of 1.99% in 
the police related Band D Council Tax or £4.18 for the year. 

5.2 The Commissioner thanked the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Constable. The 
Panel had received a briefing in January to ensure the Panel had the background to 
the budget being proposed. The Commissioner was putting forward a budget to 
support the activities within the Police and Crime Plan.  Members welcomed the 
clarity of the report.

5.3 The Commissioner stated that the 1.99% was required in order to ensure that the 
cash level for funding remained the same as advised by central government. Even 
with the increase in precept, the budget would be less than 2016/17 due to inflation, 
additional responsibilities and pay. 

5.4 There would be a focus on maintaining and increasing the level of officers with 
recruitment taking place as quickly as possible. In addition, there was a desire to 
increase the Special Constabulary and reimaging neighbourhood and rural policing. 

5.5 The Commissioner reassured members that the Constabulary was in good financial 
and operational shape and requested that they endorse the proposed precept.

5.6 Peter Skelton, Chief Finance Officer, reiterated that the grant announcement for 
PCCs stated that funding would be protected at flat cash levels if the Commissioner 
were to increase the precept by 1.99%. Gloucestershire’s grant had been reduced 
by £800,000, if 1.99% increase in precept was agreed this would lead to overall a 
small increase in funding as the tax base had increased more than the assumptions 
made by the Home Office. This overall increase did not take account of pay rises, 
inflation, or any additional costs such as the apprenticeship levy. There were also 
the additional costs around the ICT structure and £350,000 to provide the 
infrastructure to support increasing the number of special constables.  

5.7 It was difficult to plan for the future without any  indicative figures for grant funding. 
Feedback from Home Office suggested that they would be looking to continue with 
flat cash level for the next few years. The indications were that the  2017/18 levels 
would continue into future years requiring an increase in the precept each year. 
From 2018/19 onwards the Constabulary were looking at having to make around 
£6m in savings.

5.8 The funding formula was being reviewed with the consultation due out shortly. The 
Panel suggested that they may wish to make a response once the consultation was 
available.   

5.9 The Panel noted that the Chief Constable supported the 1.99% increase, 
recognising the challenges going forward. Her recommendation was within the 
paper where it stated that she was content that the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy could meet the force’s requirements. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

5.10 One member asked whether any work had been carried out to plan for the increase 
in households within Gloucestershire in the future. He particularly noted the recent 
work on the Joint Core Strategy and the Stroud Local Plan as an example. The 
Commissioner’s Office was aware of the fact that the additional housing would lead 
to a resource requirement. While the tax base was growing, the additional money 
from this tax base increase was being used to balance the budget, as opposed to 
being available to meet this increased demand. It was explained that 
Gloucestershire Constabulary currently cost the average person 49p a day which 
was lower than the national average. 

5.11 One member queried the reduction in training costs of 30% from 2016/17. In 
response it was explained that this reflected an adjustment as to where the funding 
for the training came from, with a proportion of these costs now sitting within 
‘supplies and services’. The training budget was actually showing a 2% increase 
but a more detailed response would be provided.
ACTION Peter Skelton

5.12 The Panel noted the increase in Office of Police and Crime Commissioner 
employees’ costs within Annex A. It was explained that this included the new 
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, a policy officer and commissioning officer. 
This reflected the new responsibilities around criminal justice and complaints as 
well as any potential work from the governance changes around fire and rescue 
services. 

5.13 One member questioned whether Constabulary vehicles were bought or leased. It 
was explained that all vehicles were bought but that there would be a review of the 
fleet. 

5.14 The Panel asked for clarification on how much the mounted police trial was costing 
the Gloucestershire tax payer and what the benefits were in terms of keeping 
people safe and reducing crime. In response, it was stated that the role of the police 
horses was a part of the neighbourhood policing review and that they represented a 
part of the Constabulary’s capability along with vehicles. It was up to the Chief 
Constable how she wished to deploy that capability. One member suggested that it 
had cost £170,000 to deploy horses in the previous year. The Commissioner stated 
that once the trial was complete he would bring the results back to the Panel. 
ACTION Martin Surl

5.15 It was clarified that total reserves were at around £20m with £14m of these 
earmarked as shown at Appendix F. 

5.16 One member questioned the Commissioner’s definition of communities within his 
plan. Given the commitment that each community would have a named inspector, 
she wanted to understand whether recruitment of officers could meet this 
commitment. In response it was suggested that communities could encompass a 
parish council, a school, services for older people. Specific areas would be 
considered on a case by case basis and there would be named officers available. 

5.17 It was clarified that training for Special Constables was provided for from within the 
£350,000 allocation. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

5.18 In response to a question on why, if PCSO numbers were being maintained, there 
was a 3.5% reduction in the  budget, it was explained that this reflected recruitment 
tranches not starting until June. The budget would go back up in 2018/19.  

5.19 Following the discussion on the proposed 2017/18 budget and precept, the Panel 
were asked decide  whether they:

 Supported the precept without qualification or comment;
 Supported  the precept and make recommendations, or
 Veto the proposed precept

It was RESOLVED that:

The proposed police precept for 2017/18 be supported without qualification or 
comment 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12:00

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 
14th March 2017 
 
 
 
Report of the Chief Executive 
 
This is the twenty-second report to the Police and Crime Panel on the activities of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office. It is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and 
scrutinising decisions made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance with its 
statutory responsibilities. 
 
1 Decisions 
 
1.1 The complete decision log may be viewed on the OPCC’s website here. 
 
 
2 Freedom of Information Requests and Complaints (January – February 2017) 
 
2.1 As of the 28th of February, the OPCC received 11 Freedom of Information requests.  

This compares to 14 in the same period last year and represents a 21% (3) 
decrease.  
  

 
 

2.2 Of the FOI requests made to the OPCC this year, three were redirected to the 
Constabulary (as the request related to information held within the Force), one 
required a joint OPCC/Constabulary response, six were for OPCC held information 
and one was withdrawn.  Excluding the withdrawn request, a total of fifty-five 
questions were asked during this period under the Freedom of Information Act. 
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

http://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/reports/decisions/


GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

2.3 The chart below provides an overview of FOI applicants by type (excluding the 
withdrawn request):  
 

 
 

2.4 Of the personal requests made, two relate to the same individual who, since 
September 2015, has made a total of eleven FOI requests to the OPCC (including 
those made this year).  This includes an FOI review in 2016. 
 

2.5 Forty-three complaints were made to the OPCC in January and February 2017 from 
members of the public.  Although the longer-term trend shows a reduction in the 
number of complaints received, the out-turn in January and February shows a 
59.3% increase compared to the same period last year.   

 

 

Page 10



GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

 
2.6 A summary of the complaints made to the OPCC by area is shown below.  Please 

note this excludes those complaints where the individual merely stated they lived in 
Gloucestershire, outside of the county or unknown. 

 

Number of complaints received by the OPCC by area and year 
(Jan & Feb) 

 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Cheltenham 7 4 6 1 9 

Cotswolds 12 5 1 2 4 

Forest of Dean 6 7 4 4 8 

Gloucester 13 9 6 7 7 

Stroud 7 9 6 4 5 

Tewkesbury 5 5 4 2 0 

Gloucestershire 1 2 1 4 3 

Out of 
Gloucestershire 

4 10 0 0 1 

Unknown 1 6 8 3 6 

TOTAL 56 57 36 27 43 

 

 
 

2.7 The chart and table above shows that the largest number of complaints received in 
January and February 2017 are from Cheltenham (21 % / 9 complaints), followed by 
the Forest of Dean (19% / 8 complaints) and Gloucester (16% / 7 complaints).   
 

2.8 The table below outlines complaint types by area for January and February (please 
note these are not all complaints received by area). This shows that the greatest 
number of complaints received by the OPCC relate to road safety issues.   
 

 
 

Page 11



GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

 
Complaints received by the OPCC by area and type (Jan & Feb 2017) 

Complaint 
Type 

Chelt. Cots. FoD Glos. Stroud Tewkes. Total  

Crime / 
criminal matter 

0 0 2 2 0 0 4 

Anti-social 
behaviour 

2 2 0 0 0 0 4 

Road safety 
issue 

2 0 2 1 3 0 8 

Police 
complaint 

3 0 0 2 0 0 5 

Police visibility  0 1 0 1 0 0 2 

 
 

3 Crime Data 
 
3.1 As reported previously, www.police.uk is a publically available website that shows, 

through charts and maps, how Gloucestershire Constabulary is performing.  
Unfortunately www.police.uk  has not updated the data since the last panel meeting 
and therefore no further crime performance report is available.     

 
 

4 HMIC update: Leadership,  Legitimacy and Effectiveness 
 

4.1 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary released its latest Leadership and 
Legitimacy reports for all 43 forces in England and Wales in December 2016. The 
Leadership report is not graded but the overall impression is of a force which is 
doing well. It especially identifies the effort the Constabulary has put into ensuring 
all leaders in the Constabulary have a good understanding of what is expected of 
them. You can read the full report here.  HMIC commented that there were no 
‘causes for concern’ and only two ‘areas for improvement’. These were: 
 

 that the Constabulary  should introduce a structured talent management scheme 

 the Constabulary should carry out work to understand the diversity leadership 
teams in terms of protected characteristics, skills, background and experience, 
in order to identify any gaps in capability. 

 
4.2 Regarding the Legitimacy report, Gloucestershire was rated as ‘requiring 

improvement, a down grading from last years ‘good’. However, it is important to 
note that the question set used and, therefore, the judgement criteria are different to 
those used in the previous inspection so it is difficult to make a like for like 
comparison. Furthermore, it would be unfair and inaccurate to say the force ‘has got 
worse’. The report did not raise any ‘causes for concern’ nor make any 
recommendations. However, there were seven ‘areas for improvement’. These 
were: 
 

 The force should improve how it seeks feedback from the people it serves about 
their experiences (or perceptions) of how the police have treated them.  

Page 12

http://www.police.uk/
http://www.police.uk/
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/peel-assessments/peel-2016/gloucestershire/leadership/
http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/peel-police-legitimacy-2016-gloucestershire.pdf


GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

 The force should improve how it identifies and understands the issues that have 
the greatest impact on public perceptions of fair and respectful treatment.  

 Annually, the force should produce a local counter-corruption strategic 
assessment and control strategy, to identify risks to the force’s integrity.  

 The force should ensure that it has the capability to monitor all its computer 
systems to identify risks to the force’s integrity.  

 The force should improve how it identifies and understands issues for 
organisational learning. 

 The force should improve the governance structures between the chief officer 
team and the professional standards department and the anti-corruption unit.  

 The force should improve how it manages individual performance.  
 

4.3 Whilst the PCC has, of course, reviewed these areas and examined how the 
Constabulary could improve, it is important to recognise that there were many 
things HMIC identified as good practice. These included: 
 

 the force having clearly defined values and behaviours, and that the chief 
constable has invested a considerable amount of effort in developing and 
maintaining an ethical culture.  

 that we ensure our workforce behaves ethically and lawfully and that our officers 
and staff know the required standards of behaviour. 

 that we seek challenges from the work force. 

 that we place great importance on treating people with fairness and respect – 
both our own staff and members of the public - and that this is clearly articulated 
within the force’s values, and ethical behaviour is well embedded in many of its 
policies and practices. 

 
4.4 The Constabulary was also commended for vast improvements around victim 

satisfaction, moving from one of the worst performing forces to seventh out of 43. 
 

4.5 One key area HMIC focussed on nationally is the “abuse of powers for sexual gain”. 
This is an issue highlighted in a 2016 report from the National Crime Agency and 
therefore has become a focus in the recent round of PEEL Legitimacy inspections.  
The Constabulary has had very recent experience of this and the inspectors made 
positive comment that we referred the case to the IPCC before leading a successful 
prosecution against the individual. Despite these remarks, the Constabulary has still 
been graded as ‘requiring improvement’. 
 

4.6 Finally, on 2 March 2017 the Inspectorate published its reports relating to 
Effectiveness.   It assessed how well the Constabulary keeps people in 
Gloucestershire safe from harm and what it is doing to keep crime down.  The 
report states that the Constabulary continues to ‘require improvement’.    
 

4.7 The Constabulary has challenged the findings, requesting HMI Wendy Williams to 
reconsider the grading by highlighting the year on year reductions in crime in 
Gloucestershire.  This is compared with an increase of 7.8% across all forces in 
England and Wales over the same period.  
 

4.8 The Constabulary has publically aired concerns that the report has the potential to 
damage public confidence and lead to a focus of effort on areas determined by 

Page 13

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/wp-content/uploads/peel-police-effectiveness-2016-gloucestershire.pdf


GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

HMIC rather than by the chief constable or the democratically elected Police and 
Crime Commissioner.  As such, Chief Constable Davenport will be urging the Home 
Secretary to clarify which mandate the Constabulary should follow, especially if the 
two differ. 

 
 
5 Chief Constable position 

 
5.1 Following the announcement in January that Chief Constable Davenport will be 

retiring in April, I can report that Mr. Surl has taken the decision to hold the post 
vacant for the time being and has asked DCC Rod Hansen to fulfil the role as 
Temporary Chief Constable.  This is legislated for in the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act (2011) S.41 (subsections (1) and (11)). 

 
5.2 As the decision has been taken not to appoint a chief constable at this time, I can 

confirm that there is no legal requirement for the Panel to hold a confirmation 
hearing (see Schedule 8, paragraph 4 of the Act). 
 

5.3 The drive from Government to review Fire & Rescue Service governance 
arrangements has played a part in influencing this decision.  Ensuring that all the 
governance options are open to the PCC once the results of the business case and 
consultation are known is of the upmost importance.  Appointing a new Chief 
Constable at this time may limit those options hence the decision to ask DCC 
Hansen to take the role as a temporary measure. 

 
 

6 Policing & Crime Act – Emergency Services Collaboration update 
 
6.1 As summarised in previous reports, the provisions within the Policing and Crime Act 

will have far reaching consequences for OPCCs across England and Wales.  The 
Act is in nine parts – Part One focuses on collaboration between emergency 
services. 
 

6.2 As reported at the last meeting, the next stage for Gloucestershire is to engage with 
external consultants to carry out the required work for the business case.  In order 
to fund this, an application was made to the Police Transformation Fund and I am 
happy to report that on the 1st of March we received notification that our application 
had been agreed.  We now aim to appoint a consultant in the next fortnight. 
 

6.3 We have appointed Andrew North to act as assurance advisor to the PCC 
throughout this process.  He will now lead on this work for the OPCC and provide 
the link between the office and the consultants. 
 

6.4 Although indicative, the timescale we hope to work to are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



GPMS – NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
FOI - OPEN 

 

 
 

7 Estates update 
 
7.1 I am very pleased to report that on the 20th February, the we finalised the sale of the 

land that was once home to Gloucestershire Constabulary’s former headquarters 
and police station on Lansdown Road, Cheltenham.   
 

7.2 The sale price was agreed at £7,150,000 with an additional £100,000 subject to the 
purchaser achieving an acceptable planning permission.  All the legal requirements 
have now been completed enabling CALA Homes to take possession of the site. 
 

7.3 The ‘new’ Holland House, formerly known as Wilton House, next door is now the 
base for PCSOs, neighbourhood and local investigation officers.  Members of the 
public can also go there by prior appointment for interviews, to give statements or in 
an emergency - as well as to Hester’s Way Police Station. It is hoped an additional 
town centre presence will also open in the Borough Council offices in the next few 
weeks.  

 
8 Commissioner’s Fund 
 
8.1 Applications for the Commissioner’s Fund are still being processed and therefore a 

full report of successful applications is not currently possible.  There will be a 
detailed update at the next meeting. 

 

9 Staff update 
 

9.1 We continue to have one member of staff on long-term sick leave.  
 
 

Paul D. Trott 
Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
3rd March 2017 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Safety Review 

Implementation 

Police and Crime Panel 

14 March 2017 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 7



 
Safer 

Gloucestershire  
 

ASB 
Domestic 
Homicide 

Review 

Anti 
Slavery 

Domestic 
Abuse  

& Sexual 
Violence 

Hate 
Crime 

Serious    
 Crime 

Partnership 

Local delivery - Place based multi agency forum 
 community safety 
 health & wellbeing 
 social inclusion 
 economic 

Drug 
& 

Alcohol 

Tactical 
Operational 

MAPPA 
IOM 

Health & 
Wellbeing Board 

Criminal 

Justice Board 

 

Youth  

Justice Board 

Safeguarding 

STP 

Enabling Active 
Communities 

Prevention 
& 

Self care  

Prevent 

P
age 18



  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT 
Version 7 
05/09/16 
 
 

 

 
Prepared by:  

John Bensted 
Independent Consultant 

September 2016 
 
 
 

 

Community Safety  
in Gloucestershire 
Consultation Review 

Page 19



i 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Gloucestershire has an effective and demonstrable track record of Community Safety 

partnership working, but there continue to be significant challenges ahead to ensure   

Gloucestershire remains a safe place to live. 

 

This review of Community Safety is the first opportunity for nearly 20 years to not 

only look across Gloucestershire's Community Safety landscape in order to assess 

current strengths and areas for improvement, but also look towards the horizon to 

prepare for the challenges ahead. There already have been many changes in the 

world of Community Safety from changing legislation, agency restructures and the 

introduction of a Police and Crime Commissioner, however the challenging economic   

outlook remains an on-going concern and all agencies and services are continuing to 

look at the opportunities this presents in applying new methods of service delivery 

and resourcing. This review outlines the opportunities for partners to focus their 

limited resources towards jointly delivering against the partnership priorities. 

 

The review is part of Gloucestershire’s bid to become a Combined Authority and 

presents an exciting opportunity for the County to be in the forefront of Community 

Safety by developing a new operating framework that aligns Community Safety with 

the work of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Health and Well Being 

Board whilst integrating the work of other key partnerships such the Enabling Active 

Communities Partnership and Safeguarding Boards. 

 

The Terms of Reference for the review have enabled a broad range of issues to be 

considered and this Executive Summary highlights some of the major themes and 

issues: 

 The six Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) all operate slightly differently and 

there were very different reflections on the evolution of Community Safety in the 

County. Interviewees discussed the strengths and areas for improvement in their 

own district/agency, as well as the need for an overarching Gloucestershire 

Community Safety Partnership that takes into account the rural and urban issues 

of Gloucestershire. There was a view from many respondents that this strategic 

vacuum had contributed to a sense of fragmentation and disconnection between 

District and County Partnerships and Agencies.  

 Gloucestershire is unusual, as a two tier authority, in not having a Countywide 

Community Safety Partnership which undertakes an annual Joint Strategic 

Page 20



ii 
 

Intelligence Assessment (JSIA) which informs planning and prioritisation process. 

The development of a County wide approach to strategy and planning is a central 

recommendation of this review. 

 A core strength in Gloucestershire has been the emergence and focus over 

recent years of a Strength /Asset based approach to building strong and resilient 

communities. Gloucestershire should be proud of this approach which should 

central to the next stage in development of Community Safety. 

 There was a clear recognition of the changing narrative of Community Safety and 

the need for much closer strategic links with other key cross cutting partnerships, 

notably the Heath and Well Being Board, Safeguarding Boards and the newly 

formed Joint Policing Panel.  

 Whilst there are some key county thematic partnerships that inform the work of 

the CSPs such as the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board, there were 

some gaps identified which need to be filled.  For example there is currently no 

county group for sharing learning or developing strategies for Anti-Social 

Behaviour (ASB) or for reviewing and implementing lessons learned from 

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR). Overall the partnership landscape was seen 

to be complicated with some ongoing “silo” working and duplication of effort and 

work needs to be undertaken to rationalise this area of work. 

 A related observation from many respondents was the need to make better use 

of communication networks with a view to developing a Communication Strategy 

for all level and aspects of Community Safety.  

 

This extensive review has identified many areas of best practice and many very 

dedicated and creative staff have engaged positively with the review with the 

overriding aim of ensuring a more integrated and cohesive approach. The key 

recommendations offer options of minor, moderate or major change and should lead 

to improvements in the efficiency and effectiveness of the delivery of Community 

Safety in Gloucestershire. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



iii 
 

CONTENTS 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................................... i 

LIST OF FIGURES ........................................................................................................................... iv 

LIST OF APPENDICES..................................................................................................................... v 

BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................ 1 

CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................................... 2 

1. Local initiatives ................................................................................................... 2 

2. National initiatives ............................................................................................... 3 

METHODOLOGY .............................................................................................................................. 5 

FINDINGS ......................................................................................................................................... 6 

1. Effectiveness of the six Community Safety Partnerships (CSP) .................................... 6 

2. Opportunities to create locally based Multi-Agency Groups with wider remit than CSPs .... 9 

3. Feedback about what works from the community and stakeholders ............................ 10 

4. Interface between Partnerships, Strategies and Plans .............................................. 11 

5. Planning Process .............................................................................................. 11 

6. Interface with Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) ................................................. 12 

7. Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) ................................................................ 14 

8. Communications ............................................................................................... 14 

9. Safeguarding approaches for 18-25 year olds ........................................................ 15 

   10.     Youth Justice ............................................................................................... 16 

   11.     Crime Reduction .......................................................................................... 17 

   12.     Review of links between Community Safety, Safeguarding and Safeguarding Boards 22 

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................................... 24 

1. The Priorities for Improving Community Safety ....................................................... 24 

2. Operating Models for Community Safety ............................................................... 25 

3. Steps towards greater integration ......................................................................... 28 

4. Oversight and Scrutiny of Community Safety .......................................................... 31 

5. Multi-Agency co-commissioning ........................................................................... 32 

APPENDICES ................................................................................................................................ 33 

 

Page 22



iv 
 

 
LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure  Page 

FIGURE I Partnerships, Strategies and Plans landscape 9 

FIGURE II Developing Gloucestershire Community Safety Priorities 12 

FIGURE III Operating model - Option 1 25 

FIGURE IV Operating model - Option 2 26 

FIGURE V Operating model - Option 3 28 

FIGURE VI Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Framework 30 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



v 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix   Page 

APPENDIX A Terms of reference – Community Safety Review 33 

APPENDIX B GCSP Briefing Note 030516 37 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



1 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
Gloucestershire’s bid to become a Combined Authority has provided the opportunity 

to review the way we currently deliver Community Safety in the county and how we 

might prepare for a more integrated and cohesive approach in the future. 

 

Community Safety responsibilities were set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

with specific reference to section 17 of the Act:  

“Responsible Authorities which includes local Authorities, the Police, the Police 
Authority, Fire and Rescue Authorities, Primary Care Trusts, and Probation Trusts 
are required to develop policy and operational approaches to prevent crime and 
disorder, combating the use of drugs, alcohol and other substances, anti- social 
behaviour and other behaviour likely to adversely affect the local environment and to 
reduce reoffending”. 

 

This review of the Community Safety landscape in Gloucestershire is the first such 

review since the Crime and Disorder Act of 1998 led to the establishment of the six 

District Community Safety Partnerships (formerly Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Partnerships), which set out their approaches to crime reduction and prevention 

through their statutorily required community safety strategy. In two-tier authorities the 

legislation created county strategy groups and the requirement to publish a county 

community safety agreement. However, over recent years the overarching county 

community safety strategy has diminished in importance. Gloucestershire’s six CSPs 

have continued to adapt and change during the past few years, with the increasing 

impact of the reduction in budgets, national and local organisational restructures and 

additional responsibilities imposed through emerging legislation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



2 
 

CONTEXT 
 

1. Local initiatives 

This review acknowledges that there are a number of emerging cross cutting local 

and national agendas affecting the delivery of the community safety and criminal 

justice agenda, which will impact on the delivery of Community Safety in the County. 

These include the following local developments: 

 

 The Police and Crime Plan – This is the second plan of the newly re-elected 

PCC for Gloucestershire, Martin Surl. The plan gives particular consideration 

to this review of Community Safety and implementing its recommendations. 

 Health and Well Being Board (HWBB) – There are a number of cross 

cutting agendas between the HWBB and the Community Safety landscape, 

including domestic abuse, alcohol misuse and mental health issues.  

 Enabling Active Communities Partnership – This partnership is leading on 

Strength Based working and Asset Based Community Development, which 

have emerged as key elements of the development of Community Safety in 

the six CSPs. 

 Magistrates Courts – The Ministry of Justice is driving changes to local 

courts and greater use of Conditional Cautioning and Restorative Justice. 

 Restorative Practice – Restorative Gloucestershire is just one of the 

agencies involved in developing and rolling out training programmes in 

Restorative Practice for staff across different agencies.  

 Recommissioning Drug and Alcohol Services in Gloucestershire – A 

new contract is to be awarded shortly for the delivery of these essential 

services that impact on the delivery of Community Safety.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



3 
 

2. National initiatives 

The following list highlights some of the recent national developments that are 

already impacting on the Community Safety landscape: 

 

• The Modern Slavery Act 2015 – The Modern Slavery Act 2015 gives law 

enforcement agencies the tools to tackle modern slavery, ensure that perpetrators 

can receive suitably severe sentences for these crimes, enhance support and 

protection for victims, and ensure large businesses report annually on what they 

doing to stop modern slavery occurring in their supply chains. 

• The Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), Crime and Policing Act 2014 – Designed to 

introduce simpler, more effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour that provide 

better protection for victims and communities. Two key pieces of the legislation are 

the Community Trigger and Community Remedy; both of which provide victims and 

communities with a greater say in how agencies respond to complaints of ASB and 

in out of court sanctions for offenders. 

• Transforming Rehabilitation 2014 (ongoing) – There have been considerable 

changes as a result of the Transforming Rehabilitation agenda with the previous 

Probation Trusts now reorganised into a single National Probation Service and 21 

Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRC). As of February 1, 2015, ownership of 

Bristol, Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Somerset CRC transferred from the Ministry 

of Justice to the privately-owned Working Links Group, which has in turn recently 

been acquired by a German investment company. Probation have been key 

partners in Community Safety for many years. 

• PREVENT – The Counter-Terrorism and Security Bill 2015. The Home Office, 

which will scrutinise local Prevent action plans, project impact and overall 

performance. Local Authorities must comply with the duty and work effectively with 

local partners. In addition, schools, colleges, universities, prisons, the health sector 

and the police will be required by law to put in place measures to stop would-be 

extremists from being drawn into terrorism. It is clear that local authorities are 

expected to use a local multi-agency group to agree risk, coordinate and monitor 

Prevent activity. The guidance is less clear in two-tier areas such as 

Gloucestershire, with county and district/borough councils required to ‘agree 

proportionate arrangements for sharing the assessment of risk and for agreeing 

local Prevent plans’. 

Page 27



4 
 

• Serious & Organised Crime – The Government’s Serious & Organised Crime 

Strategy published in 2013 focuses on four key strands designed to tackle serious 

and organised crime. Using the approach originally designed for the PREVENT 

strategy these strands are Pursue, Prevent, Protect and Prepare. Gloucestershire 

has just established a Joint Policing Panel to drive this strategy locally and develop 

a common understanding of the threat from serious and organised crime and the 

impact on local communities.  

• Troubled Families – Gloucestershire’s Families First scheme has evidenced the 

savings being made by a range of agencies and there are now opportunities to 

establish strategic and cross cutting links with community safety especially in 

relation to ASB, Domestic Abuse, Youth Support Services and Child Sexual 

Exploitation.  

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) – National guidance has been issued to support 

front line practitioners from both statutory and voluntary agencies to identify, 

address and disrupt this issue. Whilst CSE has been largely the responsibility of 

the Children’s Safeguarding Board this review has identified a number of examples 

in which CSE has been dealt with as a Community Safety issue. The 

recommendations from a recent Ofsted report highlighted a number of common 

findings which have relevance for CSPs:  

- focus on victims 

- engaging with all communities 

- better awareness raising and education for professionals and the wider 

community 

- professional attitudes and use of language 

- leadership, challenge and scrutiny 

- coordinated, strategic responses and performance management 

1. Modern Crime Prevention Strategy 2016 - This Home Office Strategy clearly 

identifies the importance of partnership work tackling the drivers of crime, notably 

drugs and alcohol. It also highlights the critical role of organisations such as 

Neighbourhood Watch who are keen to develop link with CSPs.    

 
 
 

Page 28



5 
 

METHODOLOGY 
 
This review was commissioned by Leadership Gloucestershire as part of the bid to 

become a Combined Authority. A small multi-disciplinary steering group was 

established and clear Terms of Reference (Appendix A) were devised. The review 

was carried out between late May and mid-August 2016 and was led by an 

Independent Consultant, John Bensted (formerly Chief Executive of Gloucestershire 

Probation Trust from 2009 -2014) (Appendix B). Over 50 meetings were held with 60 

stakeholders utilising a semi structured interview format and using questions drawn 

from the Terms of Reference. The following agencies were interviewed: 

• Police and Crime Panel 

• Police and Crime Commissioner  

• Police and Crime Priority Leads 

• District Council Elected Members  

• County Council Officers 

• District Council Officers 

• Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 

• Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• Voluntary and Community Sector Representatives  

• National Probation Service 

• Bristol ,Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Somerset Community Rehabilitation 

Company  

• Officer Representatives from all six Gloucestershire CSPs 

• Public Health 

• NHS Gloucestershire 

• 2Gether Mental Health Partnership Trust 

• Chair of Gloucestershire Magistrates  

• Victim Support Services 

• Youth Support Services 

 

Page 29



6 
 

FINDINGS 
 
This section presents key findings that have emerged from analysis of the data 

obtained from the interviews with stakeholders. 

 

1. Effectiveness of the six Community Safety Partnerships (CSP)  

The six CSPs in Gloucestershire all operate very differently, reflecting the very 

different geographical and demographic make-up of the six districts. The Chairs and 

Community Safety staff of the respective CSPs, and may other interviewees, also 

had very different reflections on the different stages of development of the district and 

the county Community Safety landscapes. They were open and honest about the 

strengths, as well as the areas for improvement in their own districts/agencies and 

there was an almost unanimous call from those directly involved with CSPs, as well 

as many who are not, for the creation of an overarching county Community Safety 

approach, especially in relation to those universal areas of Community Safety that all 

CSPs are tackling, such as domestic abuse, Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), cyber-

crime and hate crime.  

 

It was suggested by district and county players that the lack of an overarching 

countywide Community Safety approach had led to a “vacuum”, a “fracture” or a 

“disconnect” with some other key partnerships. This made it difficult for some CSPs 

to be strategically linked into some countywide and national issues such as mental 

health and substance misuse. Equally without a strategic link between county and 

district, some county strategies are not benefiting from a district perspective. For 

example, the closure of some children’s centres had an impact locally and was cited 

as example of local knowledge not being picked up at a county level. There was a 

recurring message from district CSPs as well as countywide organisations that the 

limited two way flow of information and intelligence stymied opportunities for flexible 

responses to newly emerging issues or crime and disorder “hotspots”. 

 

Throughout Gloucestershire there is a very strong commitment to a “strength based” 

approach to Community Safety and a determination to build on the many positive 

“community assets” to provide local solutions to local problems. In building on and 

consolidating the achievements of the past years it is important to recognise that 

there are many unique aspects of Gloucestershire’s diverse communities and the 

“one size fits all” approach should not apply to Community Safety Partnerships. 

However, there was a very broad consensus that all districts are faced with similar 

Page 30



7 
 

challenges in Community Safety. One comment made early in the review that “we 

must all be doing similar things and it makes sense to share the learning and stop re-

inventing the wheel” was echoed throughout the review.  

 

The range of community safety issues is extensive and covers everything from dog 

fouling, fly tipping, low level ASB through to serious and organised crime and 

domestic homicide. Whilst there is some commonality around the term “Community 

Safety” there are very different expectations about “who does what” and how that is 

co-ordinated locally and countywide. There is a need for clarification around the 

language and definitions of Community Safety. Some interviewees, such as Police 

and Probation, were very clear about their specific role in reducing the risk of harm 

/re-offending with more serious offenders but did not necessarily relate this work to 

the continuum of Community Safety. Other interviewees were more focused on the 

other end of the spectrum. It may be helpful to have a simple definition of Community 

Safety which includes “the perception of safety and the actual likelihood to suffer 

harm associated with crime, ASB, vulnerability and or isolation, whether as a victim, 

offender of member of the wider community.”   

 

There appears to be a broad acceptance that the continuum of Community Safety 

encompasses “prevention” at one end, e.g. dealing with less serious issues of ASB 

and fly tipping and “intervention” at the other end, e.g. dealing with more serious 

issues of such as knife crime and CSE. However, these issues do not fall into neat 

boxes and there are some cross cutting issues that would benefit from greater 

clarification. A number of interviewees suggested a countywide “vision” for 

Community Safety, much as there is a vision for the Health and Well Being Board. 

The clarification of the vocabulary and vision for Community Safety in 

Gloucestershire will need to be progressed as part of the implementation plan. 

 

The review process also provided an opportunity to identify areas of good practice 

and innovation across the county. The following examples are just a few of the 

challenges being tackled in partnership across the county: 

• Working with Community Neighbourhood Forums and Parish Councils to tackle 

low level ASB. 

• Regular Community Safety fora for Parish Councils.  

• Use of mobile CCTV in rural areas 

• Innovative use of mentors in Youth Clubs. 

Page 31



8 
 

• Close working between the CSP, the community and the police to tackle knife 

crime. 

• Addressing the issue of street homeless care leavers. 

• Identifying issues and developing constructive activities for local young people 

arising from major arson attacks. 

• Uncovering possible CSE by tackling ASB. 

• Development of joint work around tackling cyber-crime and the elderly. 

• District Safeguarding Network. 

• Fire service /dementia pack. 

Whilst there is some synergy between CSPs and sharing of good practice, through 

various Community Safety related networks, there were some missed opportunities 

to share best practice. Many respondents suggested that the various Community 

Safety related themed groups, subgroups and networks are as complex as they ever 

were. The Local Government Association (LGA) Review of the Community Safety 

landscape in Gloucestershire undertaken in 2013 suggested that there must be “a 

reconsideration of the subgroup structure and that there should be an emphasis on 

setting shared standards across the Gloucestershire with delivery undertaken by 

individual CSPs”. Based on the many comments about these issues this 

recommendation still applies. Such work would be a key priority in the 

implementation plan and would benefit from a county wide workshop to align and 

rationalise the Community Safety subgroup structure. 

 

Whilst it is difficult to gauge the effectiveness of Community Safety strategies at local 

and county level, as there is no current objective benchmarking process in use, some 

interviewees had their own subjective view of the effectiveness or ineffectiveness of 

the CSPs they were directly or indirectly involved with. In reviewing all six CSPs, it 

became clear that each is at a different stage in their development and evolution. It is 

interesting to note that two CSPs have recently embarked on reviewing the 

effectiveness of their CSPs, one through use of external auditors and one through a 

self-assessment process. In order to provide some greater consistency around 

effectiveness, it would be helpful to develop self-assessment frameworks, such as 

developed by the LGA. 

 

Another CSP undertook major restructuring some years ago and implemented a 

different local structure, which was often quoted during the review as an example of 

good practice. It is some years since there was a Gloucestershire Community Safety 

Page 32



9 
 

Partnership, which despite some weakness, was seen to provide firm foundations for 

the development of consistent Community Safety practice at county and district level. 

However, over recent years some of the partnership arrangements and 

accountabilities have remained somewhat complicated, silo’d and unclear. Nowhere 

was this more obvious and worrying than in relation to the number of Domestic 

Homicide Reviews (DHR) that have been commissioned in the county in the last 2 

years. From a statutory respect, the DHR is commissioned by the relevant local CSP, 

which commissions, funds and oversees the DHR. However, the learning points from 

any DHR currently remain with the CSPs, and there is no mechanism to oversee or 

provide assurance that the learning for local and county organisations is embedded. 

The recent Home Office Report (2013) on Lessons Learned from DHRs identifies a 

wide range of actions for local areas, including improving communications, training 

and general awareness raising. It is recommended that a countywide DHR Sub 

Group is urgently established to provide oversight for the DHR process and 

assurance that the learning from such tragic incidents is embedded throughout the 

county and district organisations.  

 

2. Opportunities to create locally based Multi-Agency Groups with 
wider remit than CSPs  

The rationale for including a review of Community Safety as part of Gloucestershire’s 

bid to become a combined authority is to ensure there is a cohesive and integrated 

approach to Community Safety that achieves a “safer Gloucestershire”. The 

foregoing section on Community Safety effectiveness highlighted a perception, 

amongst some interviewees, of fragmentation and disconnect within and between 

some partnership work. The review has identified many examples of very effective 

partnership working delivering good outcomes but comments such “we have 

overcomplicated things” and “silo working still exists” suggest a sense of frustration 

and there is more work yet to do to “tighten” up partnership working to improve 

community safety.  

Page 33



10 
 

At the same time it is essential to take into account the further national and local 

challenges, especially the cross cutting agenda of some of  the other key countywide 

partnerships, notably the Health and Well Being Board, the Children’s Partnership 

and the Enabling Active Communities Partnership. Failure to take the opportunity to 

adapt to these new challenges may lead to the system seizing up, as new initiatives 

are bolted on to the current Community Safety related partnership 

meetings/forums/networks. There are models of delivery within the county that could 

be developed within districts to incorporate and streamline a wider integrated and 

cohesive agenda that would meet local need and improve Community Safety and 

Health and Well Being. The latter stages of review provided an opportunity for initial 

discussions to take place between senior representatives of the Health and Well 

Being Board about the importance of strategic links to the Community Safety agenda 

and vice versa. 

 

The possibility of widening the brief and increasing the flexibility of local partnerships 

was well received by many interviewees with the caveat that it would be essential to 

establish a clear vision for such an approach and establish set of countywide and 

local priorities. There were some expressions of the need for a gradual “organic 

evolution”, but these did not detract from a consistent call for some sort of change in 

approach to Community Safety in Gloucestershire. Whilst some district CSPs are 

already some way down this road, it is recommended that all six CSPs are provided 

with an opportunity to consider how such an approach might be expanded across the 

county. This could be best achieved by a countywide event, an idea which was well 

received. The opportunities of moving towards a Combined Authority structure would 

facilitate these discussions. 

3. Feedback about what works from the community and 
stakeholders 

The Terms of Reference for this review have ensured a wide range of key 

stakeholders have been involved. The review has been very broadly welcomed and 

seen as a positive opportunity to take stock and consider new ways of “doing 

community safety”. A number of participants have raised the possibility of conducting 

a broader consultation with the community, such as an on-line survey on the 

strengths and weaknesses of Community Safety. Feedback from such surveys 

carried out by other local authorities and organisations, such as Neighbourhood 

Watch and the Suzy Lamplugh Trust have, not only given voice to individual 

members of the community and vulnerable groups, but have also informed the 

The 

Page 34



11 
 

planning and commissioning process. It is recommended that consideration is given 

to conducting such a survey in Gloucestershire and ideally in advance of the 

implementation of recommendations arising from this review. 

   

Furthermore, a number of respondents, from the Voluntary and Community Sector 

(VCS) and statutory sector, referred to the importance of listening to the “User Voice” 

and how their organisation use this feedback to adapt services to better meet the 

need of service users. Such an approach could be incorporated into more detailed 

feedback about what works and what the gaps are in Community Safety.   

 

4. Interface between Partnerships, Strategies and Plans  

The foregoing sections of this report have indicated the complexity of partnership 

working and various strategies and plans that interface with the Community Safety 

agenda. The Police and Crime Plan was cited most often by stakeholders and the 

plan’s six priorities help inform the local priorities for the six CSPs. However, it was 

recognised there are many other county partnerships that also inform, to a greater or 

lesser extent, the work of the district CSPs, notably the Health and Well Being Board, 

the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board, the Child and Adult Safeguarding 

Boards, the Children’s Partnership, and the Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

However, as there is currently no overarching county Community Safety Strategy 

there has been virtually no scope or capacity to develop a strategic links between 

Community Safety and the other key plans and strategies, other than the Police and 

Crime Plan.  

 

A number of CSPs have developed their own strategic plan based on the PCC plan 

whilst some, but not all, have developed 1 year Action Plans incorporating a limited 

number of priorities from the PCC plan.  

 

5. Planning Process 

Most CSPs, as well as other participants, expressed an aspiration for the planning 

process to be improved and said that an annual county planning event would be 

helpful in setting the strategic direction and the priorities for the county. Since the 

demise of an overarching countywide Community Safety strategy a number of the 

CSPs felt that they had been left to translate national or countywide strategies into 

local strategies. This made for an inconsistent approach to some Community Safety 

issues. The preference seemed to be for countywide strategic approach for universal 

Page 35



12 
 

Community Safety issues, such as Domestic Abuse, to be developed at a county 

level, leaving the districts to adopt a tactical approach to implementation. The six 

CSPs would then be able to adapt the county priorities to fit alongside any additional 

local priorities. 

 

An annual planning event would also benefit from better use of data, as part of the 

planning and commissioning process. Whilst it was acknowledged that there is a 

wide range of very useful countywide data, such as MAIDEN data, the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA) and District profiles, it was also noted that the reduction 

in analytical capacity hampered the planning process. Developing a dedicated data 

analyst resource for Community Safety which could be set alongside the wealth of 

local data and intelligence would be welcomed.    

 

 

6. Interface with Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) 

While there appears to be strong support for a county level strategic partnership in 

respect of community safety, accountability for such a partnership/ board is less 

straight forward. The respective Chairs of the various County Boards who have 

participated in this review have expressed a willingness to develop strategic links but 

the detail of this will need resolving during the implementation stage. 

  

The landscape has changed considerably since previous partnership arrangements 

were in place. At  a local level there is considerably more diversity and a greater 

emphasis on asset based community development and other ‘bottom up’ initiatives; 

Page 36



13 
 

at a county level there have been significant changes, the most significant of which is 

the advent of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB).  The HWBB is a statutory 

board set up in 2013 as part of the major health reforms, it has three statutory duties 

– to prepare a health and wellbeing strategy, to prepare a joint strategic needs 

assessment (JSNA) and to encourage integrated working between health and social 

care. It is a formal committee of the County Council and has prescribed membership 

that includes elected members and officers from GCC and districts, the CCG, 

Healthwatch and NHSE. In Gloucestershire this has been expanded to include the 

PCC and, more latterly, the Chief Constable and representatives from Health 

provider trusts. In lieu of other partnership arrangements the HWBB has assumed 

responsibility for significant parts of the community safety agenda e.g. safeguarding, 

domestic abuse and sexual violence, drugs and alcohol. In addition issues relating to 

mental health and community wellbeing of course are relevant across the agenda. 

The board has also considered the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan, is working on 

developing a countywide approach to active communities and is now leading on 

prevention related to the Strategic Sustainability Plan (STP). In short the HWBB has 

effectively led countywide planning relating to the ‘people’ side of community safety. 

  

There are two main options for the accountability of the new Community Safety 

Partnership: 

- Report into Leadership Gloucestershire (Combined Authority) 

- Reporting into HWBB 

  

If the partnership reports into Leadership Gloucestershire (or a Combined Authority 

should one be established), working in parallel to the HWBB, arrangements would 

need to be agreed to ensure joint ownership of those areas with overlapping interests 

e.g. safeguarding, domestic abuse, substance misuse etc.  Consideration would 

need to be given as to whether other partnerships e.g. the Children’s Partnership, the 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Commissioning Steering group, Youth Justice 

Board should change their accountability arrangements and /or how they would be 

affected. It may be possible to agree that some of these groups report into both 

partnerships/ boards and /or that there are regular joint meetings of the HWBB and 

the Community Safety Partnership.  

  

If the Community Safety Partnership reported into the HWBB consideration would 

need to be given as to how all the partners represented on Leadership 

Gloucestershire were able to feed into and influence the work on community safety. 

Page 37



14 
 

In addition some of the elements of the community safety agenda that relate to ‘place 

based’ issues such as road safety, street scene, ASB would also need to be 

incorporated into the business of the HWBB. 

  

Both of these options have merit; the main issue is to secure strong strategic 

leadership, ownership and oversight of the community safety agenda that can drive 

necessary changes, work collaboratively with local areas and respond flexibly to new 

challenges which will no doubt emerge over the next few years. 

 

7. Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) 

The role of the VCS in Community Safety is extensive and needs to be recognised 

and resourced. Gloucestershire has a huge array of small medium and large VCS 

organisations that contribute to the delivery of Community Safety in many ways, from 

the preventive agenda to intervening with some of the most complex aspect of 

Community Safety practice. The VCS Alliance “has been established to be the 

independent voice for the VCS in Gloucestershire and to ensure that voice is heard 

by commissioners, policyholders and service planners.” The Alliance is currently 

involved with a number of Commissioners, the Clinical Commissioning Group and the 

Local Enterprise Partnership. It is essential to ensure that future strategic 

development in Community Safety includes the VCS. 

 

8. Communications  

Another constant theme throughout the review was the need for good communication 

and public relations (PR) about Community Safety. There are already a wide range of 

communication channels being used by a range of organisations working on the field 

of Community Safety and the large county and district organisation have their own 

Communications and PR Teams. The Local Resilience Forum was cited by a number 

of respondents as an important forum for Community Safety. Some key strategies, 

such as the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy also include a specific 

“communication strategy”, which is currently being updated. Many organisations have 

excellent websites and make good use of social media and SMS, for example 

Neighbourhood Watch have a very effective SMS alert system and are very mindful 

of the delicate balance needed in communicating about community safety issues. 

There were mixed views as to whether a move towards a Gloucestershire 

Community Safety Strategy will require a separate Communications Strategy. 

However it is clear that “we need to pull the stands together” as one respondent put 

Page 38



15 
 

it, to make best use of the resources already in place. For example, there are many 

communication channels that are not used such as Parish Newsletters. It is 

recommended that further consideration is given to the best way of “drawing the 

strands together” as part of the implementation plan of this review.  

 

9. Safeguarding approaches for 18-25 year olds 

In recent years Safeguarding, generally, has not had a strong grassroots profile 

within CSPs. One interviewee suggested that this maybe because the focus of 

Safeguarding has been on vulnerable individuals rather than on communities. 

However, the impact of high profile Safeguarding cases, such as Rotherham and at 

Winterbourne View, have contributed to Safeguarding being increasingly seen as an 

issue that needs to be incorporated in the Community Safety agenda. This work 

however, seems to be at an early stage. Examples of CSPs inviting the Chair of 

Children’s Safeguarding Board to a CSP meeting are evidence of this growing 

awareness of the relevance of Safeguarding to Community Safety. Indeed a few 

participants used the term Community Safeguarding to drive home the point.  

 

More evidence of the growing commitment to safeguarding can be seen in the 

Countywide Safeguarding Network that aims to “To provide a platform for discussion 

between District and Borough representatives, about all aspects of safeguarding 

vulnerable groups including prevention work and sharing  good practice.” The 

network also aims “To co-ordinate the 6 Districts’ approach to safeguarding children 

and adults, so that all employees recognise and understand their responsibility to 

support vulnerable adults, children, young people and families and to report any 

signs of abuse and neglect.” A number of interviewees suggested that CSPs could 

play a key preventative role in specific safeguarding issues, such as CSE, by 

increasing local awareness of vulnerable young people visiting local “hotspots”, for 

instance particular hotels or disaffected young people being exposed to criminal 

gangs.   

 

However, the transitional issue of safeguarding the 18-25 year olds is less advanced 

and is somewhat of a wicked issue nationally as well as locally. Whilst there have 

been discussions between the respective Chairs of the two Boards, this is yet to be 

translated into clear policy or practice guidelines. It is accepted that the criteria used 

for safeguarding children is clearly age related, whilst for adults vulnerability is a key 

criterion. Currently safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults rests with the 

Page 39



16 
 

respective Children and Adult Safeguarding Boards and whilst Safeguarding Children 

procedures must be implemented for under 18 year olds, it is accepted that those 

vulnerable young people transitioning to adulthood may require a different more 

flexible approach. Generally adult safeguarding procedures must be implemented for 

18 year old plus and in these situations Children’s Safeguarding should be equal 

partners throughout the process, so any issues that impact on the services which are 

Children’s services can be identified, addressed and monitored. 

 

It is recommended that practice guidelines are developed in order to clarify which 

safeguarding procedures should be followed when abuse is alleged or occurs to 18-

25 year olds and how partnership working between Adult services and Children’s 

service should work. 

 

10. Youth Justice 

There is a continuum of interventions for young people in conflict with the law in 

Gloucestershire and there are many areas of excellent and innovative preventive 

work such as the Aston Project and Great Expectations, both of which are seen as 

exemplars of best practice and models for future roll out across the county. For those 

young people more heavily entrenched with the Criminal Justice System, the 

interventions delivered by the Youth Support Service are comprehensive, integrated 

and cohesive. However, there was a recurring message through this review about 

the need for greater join up for some young people on the fringes of anti-social 

behaviour and crime. This section has specific reference to the impact of the youth 

justice system on young people with complex needs and how they are treated in the 

system. These issues have a particular resonance for CSPs and there were a wide 

range of issues raised by interviewees, including: 

• Young people with mental health issues in the CJS 

• Self harm/suicide risk amongst  vulnerable young people  

• The prevalence of residential care homes in some districts 

• Street homeless care leavers and issues of ASB and substance misuse  

• Concern about disconnect between CSPs and schools 

• Lack of take up of “out of court” disposals by about 50% of young people and their 

families  

• Vulnerable young people being drawn into organised crime gangs 

• Cyber bullying of vulnerable young people 

 

Page 40



17 
 

The range of issues is extensive and there is clearly much work to do in developing a 

more coherent system that addresses the multiple and overlapping needs and 

vulnerabilities of young people in conflict with the law. The previous section on 

safeguarding highlighted the issues for those 18-25 year olds young transitioning to 

adulthood and it may be helpful to consider a wider  “transitions approach” to working 

with vulnerable young people, such as developed by T2A (The Transitions to 

Adulthood Alliance) and being rolled out in some local authorities. Indeed this work 

was being developed by Gloucestershire’s Youth Support Service in partnership with 

Gloucestershire Probation Trust, but the project was shelved following the changes 

to the Probation Service. It is recommended that consideration is given to re-

establishing this work with the newly established Community Rehabilitation 

Company. 

 

With the impending changes to the national Youth Justice Board and the 

postponement of Taylor Review of the Youth Justice System, it seems possible that 

we might be entering a period of uncertainty about the treatment of young people in 

the wider Youth Justice System, which may have knock on implications for 

Gloucestershire. Thus this review provides a timely opportunity to take stock and 

review the range of interventions for vulnerable young people in conflict with the law. 

It is recommend that this work  could be co-ordinated  as part of the  “Young People 

becoming Adults” priority in the Police and Crime Plan with a view to developing a 

countywide strategic approach that would be overseen by a newly established 

County Community Safety Partnership.  

 

11. Crime Reduction 

a) Priorities/area profile 

Each of the six districts and their CSPs have a distinct local profile, which reflect the 

demographic differences and the various local crime and disorder issues. Whilst 

there is an overarching aim to reduce crime and the fear of crime there is a wide 

continuum of priorities, which the CSPs emphasised to a greater or lesser degree. 

These ranged from environmental crime (fly tipping), ASB, Hate Crime, Domestic 

Abuse, Cyber Crime, Mental Health issues and Substance Misuse. There are also 

distinct differences between urban and rural parts of the county. For example, lack of 

transport is a key issue in rural areas, especially if resources or programmes are only 

available in urban areas. Urban areas have their own distinct concerns, with knife 

crime being a particularly current issue in Gloucester and street homeless care 

Page 41



18 
 

leavers being a challenging issue in Cheltenham. Crime reduction across and 

between the districts was discussed in generic terms, such as ASB, Domestic Abuse 

and Cyber-crime, all of which encompass some very specific crimes. An overarching 

county Community Safety Partnership would provide a clear strategic steer in 

prioritising and tackling these issues as well as providing clarification as to “who does 

what”.  

 

The recently published Home Office Modern Crime Prevention Strategy was touched 

on by some of the police respondents. The strategy clearly identifies some of the 

“drivers of crime” such as alcohol, drugs and opportunity and these have particular 

relevance for CSPs, especially as it confirms the importance of partnership work and 

it echoes the stated aim of all six CSPs in talking about “fundamental shift in the way 

all of these partners, including the Home Office, work together to prevent crime. The 

impact of our new approach will be seen not just in crime rates themselves, but also 

in public perceptions of crime, the plans of Police and Crime Commissioners, and 

membership of organisations like Neighbourhood Watch.” It is recommended that the 

key relevant strands of the strategy are incorporated into the work of the county 

Community Safety Partnership.  

     

The range of priorities in each CSP reflected these differences but there is strong 

support for a county approach to the issues identified above, which all districts are 

tackling. It was suggested by many, notably those directly responsible for Community 

Safety that they were not in a position to develop a strategic approaches to some of 

these issues, rather they felt their responsibility was for the tactical implementation  

of such strategies. It was also commented on that there appear to be gaps in 

developing countywide strategic approaches that would provide a steer for CSPs: 

there is currently no county wide ASB Strategic Group; the county Hate Crime 

Groups has just been re-established; and whilst there are various approaches to 

cyber-crime being developed locally there is a disconnect between some of these 

developments, the CSPs and the national Cyber Crime Strategy. One interviewee 

suggested cyber-crime was a “game changer for the Police and CSPs”. 

 

The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board (DASV) was seen to as provide a 

clear strategic direction to CSPs. However, some respondents indicated their 

anxieties around their accountability for some CS issues. All six CSPs identified 

Domestic Homicide Reviews as the most worrying example. Whilst accepting the 

statutory responsibility for commissioning and overseeing DHRs rests with the CSPs, 

Page 42



19 
 

there was almost no county oversight and it was difficult for district CSPs to hold 

county agencies, such as the Police, Probation or County Council, to account for 

improving practice and embedding new learning. The DASV and the HWBB have 

recently taken on some oversight of this but the overwhelming message was that 

accountability is best placed at county level, via a county Community Safety 

Partnership. This would ensure better adherence to Home Office Guidelines as well 

as providing assurance that the learning points of DHRs are embedded in practice. 

 

The degree by which area profiles are enhanced by good analysis of data seemed 

limited and was of concern to a lot of respondents. Whilst all areas contributed 

financially to the MAIDEN data system it was clear that areas struggled to make best 

use of this data and also of the JSNA and the District Profiles. Some of this was 

down to lack of analytical capacity but there was also a sense that a more detailed 

understanding of district profiles would be improved by an  annual planning event  

that would bring together countywide as well as local data and local intelligence.      

 

b) Youth Offending  

The specific issue of vulnerable young people in conflict with the law was addressed 

in a previous section of this report, but crime reduction and youth offending have a 

wider relevance for CSPs. Public perceptions of youth crime and fear of crime are 

issues that have attracted media interest for many years and it has been suggested 

in a report from the Local Government Association (LGA) that “there is a tendency for 

the public to overestimate the scale of youth crime, the numbers of young offenders, 

the proportion of overall crimes committed by young people, and the seriousness 

(especially in terms of violence) of youth crime. This phenomenon also implies that 

external factors (such as media reporting) have a role to play in shaping the public’s 

view of youth crime.”  (Young People: Crime and Public Perceptions). These are 

important findings for CSPs to take into account at a time when senior staff involved 

in youth crime prevention suggests that youth crime has “plateaued” and diversion 

schemes in Gloucestershire are seen as very effective. 

 

Crime reduction and youth offending must encompass both, prevention and 

intervention. Breaking the cycle of offending and reoffending, as well as intervening 

in the lives of some entrenched young offenders is the responsibility of the police, 

probation and the youth offending team and schemes such as, the Integrated 

Offender Management team is an effective multi-disciplinary team that work with the 

Page 43



20 
 

most prolific offenders. It is self-evident that integrated and cohesive partnership 

work is the key to effective prevention. CSPs, town and parish councils and many 

VCS organisations are supporting and/or delivering a wide range of different 

interventions to an equally wide array of young people. Schemes  such as Open 

House, My UK, Door Project , local Youth Clubs, such as the Brizen Youth Club, the 

Aston Project, Great Expectations and Project Solace, to name but a few, are being 

run by dedicated and innovative individuals and are successful in diverting many 

young people from being drawn into low level crime. However, observations and 

comments from a number of respondents suggested that there is need for greater 

strategic consistency and connectedness across the county, so the sum of the whole 

is great than the individual parts. As previously recommended, this work could be co-

ordinated as part of the priority for young people in the PCC plan.    

 

c) Vulnerable Groups 

There was very wide understanding from all who participated in this review of the 

breadth and complexity of community safety. In answer to the question “How do you 

and your organisation define Community Safety?” people responded with words and 

phrases, such as “reducing crime, reducing the fear or perception of crime, reducing 

the harm associated with crime, being able to walk the streets safely at night.” The 

fact is that crime is falling in Gloucestershire, a county which is generally perceived to 

be a safe county to live and work in. Nevertheless, there are groups and individuals 

who are more vulnerable to being the victim of crime or live in fear of becoming a 

victim. These groups/issues most often cited were: 

• The elderly , especially isolated lonely individuals 

• Victims of  domestic abuse/repeat domestic abuse 

• Victims of hate crime 

• Individual suffering from mental health issues and the stigma of mental health 

• Self harm and suicide 

• Young people at risk of CSE and lack of support for victims of non-recent sexual 

abuse 

• Homeless care leavers 

 

These vulnerable groups were just some those identified during the review as being 

high priority groups for CSPs and specific organisations to prioritise and work with at 

either a county or at a local level. However, work that targeted some of these 

Page 44



21 
 

vulnerable groups seems limited to particular localities and there would be benefit 

from a greater sharing of practice in working with vulnerable groups.   

 

d) Drugs and Alcohol  

One very experienced interviewee in the field of substance misuse suggested that 

“drugs issues had gone from the top of the agenda to the bottom and that alcohol 

misuse should be much higher up the agenda”. It is clear that substance misuse is 

major disinhibitor of crime and probation respondents identify that over 50% of cases 

suffer from an alcohol problem whilst about 30% misuse drugs. Nevertheless, it was 

interesting to note that drugs and alcohol were not identified so prominently by 

interviewees in this review, as might have been expected. That is not to say that they 

are not a major issue for CSPs and at least one CSP has a clear priority to reduce 

the harm caused by alcohol and drugs. The Home Office’s recently published 

Modern Crime Prevention Strategy clearly identifies drugs and alcohol as clear 

“drivers of crime”. It states that “drugs are a complex and evolving issue and getting 

our approach right is crucial to tackling the crime and wider health and social harms 

and costs to society drugs cause”. It goes on to say that “Preventing alcohol- related 

crime and disorder requires concerted action by all with a stake in the successful 

operation of the evening and night time economy”. 

 

Drug and alcohol issues remain of great concern to Gloucestershire CSPs, but an 

overarching strategic approach to drugs and alcohol misuse seem to have been 

diminished within the CSP agenda. Gloucestershire no longer has a Drug and 

Alcohol Action Team (DAAT). The PCC Plan highlights the need to reduce alcohol 

and disorder related crime and the county is poised to recommission the drugs and 

alcohol treatment service. Gloucestershire’s current Alcohol Harm Reduction 

Strategy (2016-19) is overseen by the Heath and Well Being Board but the six CSPs 

are not strategically linked in. It is recommended that the plan to establish a county 

wide Community Safety Partnership includes discussion with the Health and Well 

Being Board about the overlapping issues of alcohol and drug use between the 

respective Boards.  

 

e) Support for Victims 

The PCC plan is clear that the “service and support provided to victims should be at 

the heart of the approach”. Likewise the six CSPs, their partner agencies and 

Page 45



22 
 

stakeholders aim to put victims at the centre of Community Safety practice. The 

foregoing section on vulnerable groups highlights some of this work, but the review 

drew out a more complex picture of support for victims. This ranged from individual 

support for elderly victims of crime from members of the community and parish 

councillors; through to the support for victims of ASB by a range of specialist ASB 

staff employed by Housing Associations and district councils; support for victims of 

Domestic Abuse by Independent Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVAs); and the role 

of Victim Support (VS) in providing dedicated support for victims of hate crime, cyber-

crime and ASB. Restorative Gloucestershire are a pivotal agency in developing and 

rolling out Restorative Justice (RJ) across the county. However, this work is still 

evolving and Restorative Gloucestershire are very keen to develop closer links with 

CSPs and for RJ work to be further embedded across the county. The fact that only 

5% of referrals to Restorative Gloucestershire are victim led indicates that there is a 

way to go to develop RJ as a powerful resource for victim.  

 

There are a number of cross cutting issues involving the Victim and Witness Unit, the 

Criminal Justice Board, the work of the Victim Liaison Officers employed by the 

National Probation Service. Restorative Gloucestershire, the Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence Board and the six CSPs would benefit from a joined up approach, 

which could be overseen at county level by an overarching Community Safety 

Partnership. 

12. Review of links between Community Safety, Safeguarding and 
Safeguarding Boards 

A previous section has addressed some of the transitional Safeguarding issues 

relating to 18-25 year olds. Additionally, many of the respondents have articulated a 

clear cross over between Community Safety and Safeguarding, notably those directly 

involved in Children’s Services and Domestic Abuse. However, all there was an 

emerging view within the CSPs that “nothing should be excluded from CSPs” that 

“safeguarding should definitely be part of the CSP agenda” and that we should be 

moving towards a “wider strategic locality partnership”. The linkage between 

Community Safety and Safeguarding is currently variable across the county, with 

some partnerships including safeguarding as part of a wider remit, others beginning 

to develop the links by inviting the Independent Chair of the Children’s Safeguarding 

Board to address the local CSP meeting, and others have separate local 

Safeguarding subgroups. In addition, there is the previously mentioned countywide 

Page 46



23 
 

Safeguarding Network but the Terms of Reference do not make clear any link with 

CSPs. 

 

In summary there are plenty of examples of bridges between the Community Safety 

landscape and the world of Safeguarding but the sense is that safeguarding issues 

need to be made more explicit within the CSP agenda if they are to have any 

meaning. One interviewee observed that CSPs tend to “look at the service and not 

the issue”. This perceptive comment helpfully distinguishes the importance of 

keeping the CSP agenda vibrant and relevant as opposed to relying on a fixed 

agenda. 

 

This final section has begun to articulate the potential for a wider remit for a locally 

based multi-agency forum other than just focussing on what has become a broadly 

delineated CSP agenda. It is clear that some CSPs have already evolved into a 

different operational model and others are interested in considering such a 

development. There have been cautionary voice as well, expressing the view that 

CSPs “cannot do it all” and they would “benefit from a clear steer” from a county 

Community Safety Partnership. This must include a clear vision and clear statement 

of priorities that delivers a coherent and integrated approach to Community Safety in 

Gloucestershire. It must also retain an absolute expectation that the work already 

underway in developing Strength Based Working and Asset Based Community 

Development in the six Districts is actively encouraged to flourish. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



24 
 

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. The Priorities for Improving Community Safety 

 

 Establish a Review Implementation Group – This group could evolve from the 

current steering group and would develop an Implementation Plan to take forward 

the recommendations and findings from this Community Safety Review. The 

group would be accountable to Leadership Gloucestershire. 

 

 Develop the Gloucestershire Community Safety Partnership (GCSP) – The 

review established strong support for the development of an overarching body for 

Gloucestershire that would provide the strategic co-ordination of the agreed 

countywide Community Safety themes (such as Domestic Abuse, Cyber-Crime, 

Anti-Social Behaviour) on behalf of the six Community Safety Partnerships 

(CSPs) in Gloucestershire. The Partnership, which could be established in 

shadow form initially, would need to link to a number of other strategic boards 

that lead on cross-cutting agendas including the county-wide Office of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner, Health and Wellbeing Board, the Safeguarding 

Children Board, the Domestic & Sexual Violence Board and the Enabling Active 

Communities Partnership. There was a recurring theme throughout the review 

that a strategic vacuum was created by the winding up of the Gloucestershire 

Safer and Stronger Justice Commission over two years ago which had led to a 

sense of fragmentation of some aspects of Community Safety across the county. 

This could initially be developed as a shadow GCSP. 

 

 Plan for an annual Community Safety Stakeholder Conference – The first of 

these should be held in early 2017 to draw together all the elements and 

recommendations arising from this review. The event would be an opportunity for 

the shadow GCSP to work with stakeholders to develop and agree a three year 

Community Safety Partnership Plan and establish a small number of key 

priorities for improving Community Safety and reducing crime and disorder in 

Gloucestershire. This plan would augment and compliment the Police and Crime 

Plan and would be updated annually. It is also recommended that consideration 

be given to this conference being a biannual event, certainly in the first 2 years to 

review progress and deal with any emerging issues. 

 

Page 48



25 
 

 Plan to meet with Chairs of six CSPs – The six CSPs are all at different stages 

in their evolution and it will be an important priority for the local leaders for 

Community Safety to contribute to the planning of a more cohesive and 

integrated approach to Community safety. 

 

2. Operating Models for Community Safety 

As part of the implementation plan arising from this review, three options of 

Community Safety operating models have been considered: 

 

 Option 1: Minor change - This essentially sees limited change to the status quo; 

the six CSPs would remain in place and continue to evolve organically. Whilst 

there is some joint work across the CSPs this could be enhanced by a regular 

forum for CSPs Chairs to meet to share ideas and common approaches to 

common issues. The CSPs would continue to contribute to the delivery of the 

Police and Crime Plan. Some of the Community Safety cross cutting issues could 

be rationalised and continue to be “owned” by the Health and Well Being Board 

(such as Domestic Abuse and Substance Misuse) and the Enabling Active 

Communities (such as Building Stronger Communities). This option should 

include a rationalisation of thematic partnerships thus minimising any 

duplication/silo working as well as establishing groups to plug the current gaps of 

ASB and Domestic Homicide Reviews. In most 2 Tier Authorities the County 

Council undertakes a high level Joint Strategic Intelligence Assessment on behalf 

of the District CSPs to determine the Community Safety priorities. This is 

currently not the case in Gloucestershire, but should be considered as part of this 

limited change option.  

Page 49



26 
 

 Option 2: Medium Change. The development of the GCSP working in close 

partnership with the six CSPs – there was an almost unanimous agreement 

during the review for the establishment of an overarching County wide 

Community Safety Partnership that had clear Terms of Reference, a clear 

planning process, strong district representation and most importantly a strong 

and influential Chair. There was no desire to add a further bureaucratic layer but 

it was widely viewed that the Community Safety landscape had become 

fragmented. This was compounded by the fact that there is no county Joint 

Strategic Intelligence Assessment that informs the planning process. Such an 

approach would lead to greater consistency in the delivery of some of the 

universal Community Safety issues, free up the Districts to become more tactical 

as well as enabling the districts to focus on a “place based approach” to 

Community Safety. 

 

 Option 3: Major Change. A transitional option, as part of the move towards 

becoming a Combined Authority – this would involve the merger of the six 

current CSPs in to one overarching Gloucestershire Community Safety 

Partnership, but most importantly it would retain six District Multi Agency Forums 

that could “customise” the tactical implementation of the countywide strategies 

developed by the Gloucestershire Community Safety Partnership, of which the 6 

Districts would be key members. This model would also consolidate and further 

develop the unique aspects of the local partnership arrangements. A number of 

other two tier authorities have successfully moved to this arrangement, notably 

Norfolk and North Yorkshire. These authorities have evidenced improved 

responses to ASB and greater consistency towards other Community safety 

Page 50



27 
 

issues. They have also benefited from a more consistent and coherent strategic 

approach as well as   greater clarity and commitment in leadership at county and 

district level. This option would see the biggest countywide change in the 

Community Safety landscape in many years, but it could also deliver greater 

efficiency and effectiveness as well greater consistency and coherence. Applying 

any of the changes described in the 3 options will require careful management, 

especially option 3, and it will be essential to involve councillors in the decisions 

about next steps. However partnerships will continue to face exceedingly difficult 

choices over the coming years but making a major change now will prepare 

Gloucestershire to continue to adapt to the changing Community Safety 

landscape. It is recognised that this option would require significant 

developmental support and would require all six CSPs agreeing to such an option 

and would need approval by the PCC but would provide: 

- Clarity in leadership of the community safety agenda in Gloucestershire, 

providing a focus for engagement across all responsible authorities and 

other key stakeholders. 

- A sharper focus to strategic arrangements across the county, aligning 

partners to best effect with rationalisation providing a practical solution to 

the resourcing of meetings. 

- The Gloucestershire Community Safety Partnership would support six 

District based Multi-Agency Forums that would continue to develop a “place 

based approach” with a wider agenda than just Community Safety issues 

and would retain the overall responsibility to. 

- Protect their local communities from crime and disorder, and help people 

feel safer. 

- Deal with local issues like antisocial behaviour, drug or alcohol misuse, re- 

offending and crime prevention. 

- Assess local community safety and crime and disorder priorities and consult 

partners and the local community about how to deal with them. 

 

This new model could bring together operational managers of the responsible 

authorities, supported by other relevant organisations, to co-ordinate and ensure the 

delivery not just the county Community Safety priorities but also ensure the delivery 

of local priorities. Consideration could also be given to developing a wider Strategic 

Transition Plan to align the cross cutting priorities of the Health and Well Being Board 

and the Enabling Active Communities. The various thematic sub groups would report 

to the Gloucestershire Community Safety Partnership. 

Page 51



28 
 

 

3. Steps towards greater integration 

 A rationalisation of partnership arrangements at countywide and district 

level – There is a clear need to rationalise the current complex arrangements of 

the county and district partnership landscape. It is inconsistent across the county 

and this leads to a confusing picture between CSPs, as well as for partner 

agencies. As part of the implementation plan arising from this review it is 

recommended that a county wide mapping exercise/workshop is undertaken as 

soon as possible. The outcome of this exercise would be presented to the first 

Community Safety stakeholder conference in early 2017 with a recommended 

new structure. The GCSPB could then focus on oversight of smaller number of 

themed subgroups relating to a clear set of priorities. This new structure should 

be evidence based, informed by relevant county and local data and have simpler 

linkages to other delivery mechanisms. 

 

 Supporting infrastructure – In order for these new arrangement to be effective 

it will be essential to provide sufficient/lean infrastructure support. It is fully 

recognised that resourcing infrastructure support will be challenging but was 

recognised by a number of Chief Officer interviewees that such support is a 

critical ingredient of success. The 2013 LGA review of Community Safety in 

Gloucestershire highlighted the lack of basic support had contributed to the 

ineffectiveness to the delivery of the county’s Community Safety plan.  At the very 

Page 52



29 
 

least the GSCP will need some form of secretariat to co-ordinate the new 

structure, organise meetings and prepare briefings. Additionally the review has 

highlighted the importance of data analysis in the identifying priorities, and in the 

planning and commissioning cycle. The GCSP will have a key role in developing 

and agreeing the county Community Safety strategic assessment and there will 

need to be some dedicated data analysis support. Ideally a Community Safety 

Policy officer would enhance the work of the new Partnership and would work 

with a number of partners and other bodies, to respond to the policy agenda 

being driven by a reduction in resources across the partnership, at the same time 

developing joint policies with other partners so as to improve our response to 

those with mental health problems, victims of domestic abuse and tackling child 

sexual exploitation.    

 

 Simple Strategic Planning Framework – The Police and Crime Plan was most 

often cited as the key planning document for the CSPs but there is a clear need 

for a more co-ordinated planning process. The recommendation for the 

establishment of the GCSP coupled with the establishment of an annual planning 

event implies a more strategic planning and commissioning process. This 

process would be co-ordinated by the GCSP support team working in partnership 

with the CSPs and other stakeholders. It would be a holistic approach to planning 

and avoid duplication and ensure a close interface with other partnership plans. 

There are 4 components to the continuum of Community safety planning which 

range from the need for immediate ‘intervention’ to more long term “prevention” 

measures: 

1. Immediate response to high level risks e.g. knife crime, arson (Intervention) 

2. Mitigating increased risk situations (Intervention) 

3. Reducing identified risks (Prevention) 

4. Promoting and maintain Community Safety (Prevention)  

 

Page 53



30 
 

 

Identification of these 4 components would go some way to clarifying the question 

raised during the review about “who does what?” There are then 3 challenges which 

were identified in the review and will need of a clear commitment from senior leaders 

namely: 

1. Collaboration. 

2. Information sharing. 

3. Measuring outcomes.   

The planning framework will need to take into account other county wide plans (e.g. 

Police and Crime Plan)   as well as addressing the needs of the local districts. It is 

recommended that greater use is made of local data and intelligence. The Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) could be integrated with a Joint Strategic 

Intelligence Assessment (JSIA), using police data, and would be a key component of 

the framework which would identify a small number of countywide Community Safety 

priorities. At a district level the District Profiles, produced by GCC, could be coupled 

with an audit of community assets in order to identify the key local priorities.   

 

 Relationship between Safeguarding Boards and Partnerships – 

Safeguarding is everybody’s business and there should be close working 

between the CSPs and the two Safeguarding Boards. There is an evolving 

picture in Gloucestershire as CSPs increasingly integrate Safeguarding issues 

into the Community Safety Agenda. The Social Care Institute for Excellence has 

promoted the development of joint protocols between Safeguarding Boards and 

Page 54



31 
 

other partnerships such as CSPs. This review recommends that these are now 

established in Gloucestershire between the GCSP and the two Safeguarding 

Boards. These protocols could include the following elements: 

- the non-hierarchical relationship between the boards 

- the need to establish processes for the development of strategic plans that 

recognise and complement each other 

- the process for sharing and commenting on annual reports 

- a resolution process for any issues that might arise between the boards 

 

4. Oversight and Scrutiny of Community Safety 

There is currently very limited oversight and scrutiny of Community Safety at a 

county level. The establishment of a new GCSP could be accountable to Leadership 

Gloucestershire but could also undertake the following tasks: 

 Monitor and evaluate activity undertaken to deliver the Gloucestershire 

Community Safety Plan. 

 Develop links and opportunities for collaborative working between the responsible 

authorities and other relevant organisations to deliver the most efficient and 

effective community safety services for the communities of Gloucestershire within 

available resource. 

 Agree the terms of reference of the six CSPs. 

 Receive regular updates from each of the CSPs and provide updates in return. 

 Develop a Risk Log to mitigate risks to Community Safety services by 

implementing the most appropriate control measures. 

 Attract funding and resources from appropriate funding streams and/or 

organisations. 

 Agree the utilisation of funding and other resources attracted by the CSP. 

 Provide advice and feedback to the PCC to support the development of the 

Police and Crime Plan and the commissioning strategy. 

 Communicate and consult with the communities of Gloucestershire in partnership 

with the CSPs, on community safety matters and ensure any feedback received 

follows an appropriate channel to influence the work of the CSP. 

 Provide a countywide approach with regards to Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

 

In terms of oversight and scrutiny at District level the six CSPs could benefit from a 

review as they are all structured differently. Four of the six are chaired by elected 

Page 55



32 
 

members, with responsibility for oversight and scrutiny resting with a range of District 

Committees. It is recommended that ,as part of the proposed meetings with CSPs 

Chairs, the issue of whether the proposed arrangements for county oversight, 

outlined above, are sufficient or whether there needs to be a more consistent 

approach to oversight and scrutiny  at District level . 

 

Furthermore it is recommended that the bid to become a Combined Authority 

includes the proposal for the oversight and scrutiny of a single CSP to sit with the 

Combined Authority. 

 

5. Multi-Agency co-commissioning 

The response to this section of the review was bound up in the need to improve the 

planning and commissioning process. There were examples of co-commissioning in 

other Gloucestershire partnerships but there has been limited co-commissioning in 

Community Safety. Opportunities and gaps in Community Safety should be identified 

at the annual planning event and these opportunities for co-commissioning could be 

overseen by the GCSP together with the relevant partnerships such as the HWBB. It 

would be the role of the GCSP support team to develop progress and monitor such 

work.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



33 
 

APPENDICES 
 
APPENDIX A: Terms of reference – Community Safety Review 
 

Review of Community Safety in Gloucestershire 
Terms of Reference 

 
1. Background  

Included within the Gloucestershire bid to become a Combined Authority (submitted 

to Government 4.9.15), was the element of Community Safety. The rationale for this 

inclusion was based on the challenge of ensuring that we have an integrated and 

cohesive approach to community safety at both a county and local level.  

Strategies to reduce crime and help people to feel safe need to operate at both a 

local level and at a strategic level whether this is countywide or from a national 

perspective. In Gloucestershire this requires partners at both district and county to 

work together and to be clear about their respective responsibilities. The secret of 

success is to get a clear, integrated and cohesive strategy in place which can be 

dovetailed into each local community. 

 

When the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 was implemented and in particular section 

17, each local authority was given the authority to formulate a strategy to reduce 

crime and disorder and to work with appropriate authorities including the Police, 

Health and Probation in order to achieve this. Section 17 was arguably the most 

radical element of the Act as it highlighted the notion of shared responsibility for 

crime reduction across a wide range of local authority services.  

Section 17 was primarily conceived by the Home Office as an enabling device for the 

promotion of effective crime reductive activities with the Police and Local Authorities 

but over time this has diminished and not had the sustained impact that was 

originally intended. 

 

In addition the context has changed considerably and new issues have emerged 

causing government to develop its policy in respect of areas such as Child Sexual 

Exploitation, radicalisation and slavery/ trafficking. In part this is the result of a better 

understanding of the risks and local concerns have led to the development of new 

groups such as those established to tackle gangs and knife crime in Gloucester. New 

requirements have also been set for local areas to establish additional partnership 

arrangements such as the PREVENT Board and Modern Slavery Partnership. These 

issues all have strong links to safeguarding as tackling issues in the community also 

means identifying and intervening with individuals and families both to safeguard 

those at risk and the wider community from the consequences of their actions. The 

relationship of the local Safeguarding Boards to these new partnerships is at best 

unclear and is often being resolved through dual membership. None of these creates 

a coherent, efficient local system for responding to complex, multi- faceted problems.  

Gloucestershire currently has six Community Safety Partnerships (Formerly CDRPs) 

based within each of the District Council areas respectively that includes or has 

included members from the County Council, Probation, Fire and Rescue, Police and 

Health.     

Page 57



34 
 

The recent introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners (2012), changes to the 

Health Service structures and, changes to Probation have introduced major change 

to the partnership landscape. The impact of this could have created some benefit but 

in many cases have caused fragmentation within CSPs as each new partner has 

their own strategy that does not always interface or integrate with Community Safety.  

 

Conclusion 

There is a need to ensure we have resilient communities, are able to harness support 

and, that our communities receive an efficient and cohesive response from public 

agencies when needed. There is now a requirement to think differently about the way 

in which we approach Community Safety in Gloucestershire and this review will lead 

to a new approach that will: 

 Provide strategic governance 

 Deliver a coordinated response and direction at a local level 

 Provide an interface to key partners, strategies and plans that will maximise 

effectiveness and efficiency  

 Create a safer Gloucestershire   

 

2. Context / Interrelationships 

The government is currently in the process of negotiating Devolution Deals as a 

means of providing greater powers and funding locally to stimulate economic growth 

and to reform the way that public services are designed and delivered locally.  As 

part of this, Government are requiring new collaborative governance arrangements in 

the form of Combined Authorities as part of the proposals.  

 

In support of a devolution deal for Gloucestershire, the County Council,  six District 

Councils, Local Enterprise Partnership, Clinical Commissioning Group and Police 

and Crime Commissioner have jointly developed a proposal for a new Combined 

Authority where their resources will work closely together to secure shared strategic 

objectives.   

 

The Community safety element of the proposal aims to achieve greater cohesion 

between relevant partnerships, strategies, plans and communities in order to make 

Gloucestershire a safer place.      

 

3. Purpose of the Review 

The overarching objective must be to establish a strategic framework that can 

achieve ‘a safer Gloucestershire’ by making recommendations in respect of: 

3.1  Defining the priorities for improving Community Safety within the County   

3.2 Describing the recommended operating model for the community safety ‘system’ 

3.3 Setting out steps that will lead to greater integration and clarity of relationships 

between all Community Safety related partners, partnerships, strategies and 

plans, including: 

3.3.1 A rationalisation of partnership arrangements at countywide and district level 

3.3.2 The infrastructure needed to support partnership arrangements 

3.3.3 A simple strategic planning framework 

Page 58



35 
 

3.3.4 Clarity in the relationship between the Safeguarding Boards and 

recommended partnerships 

3.4 Making recommendations about how Community Safety will be subject to 

oversight and scrutiny.   

3.5 Making recommendations for potential opportunities for multi-agency co-

commissioning in the community safety arena 

 

4. Scope 

4.1 To review existing district based Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) to 

assess their effectiveness, how they link to local needs, how they link to county 

wide issues, national issues and other partnerships, strategies and plans and 

current funding arrangements. 

4.2 To review opportunity for the creation of locally based multi-agency groups 

(Locality Partnerships) that have a wider remit other than CSP issues. This will 

avoid the current approach whereby a number of partnerships exist at a local 

level with multi-agency attendance. This approach will create greater cohesion at 

a local level and be more cost effective in relation to attendance at meetings. 

4.3 To engage with all stakeholders including our communities seeking views as to 

what would work at a local level. 

4.4 To review the current interface between Partnerships, Strategies and Plans. (A 

full list of partnerships, strategies and plans will be made available) 

4.5 To review how 18 to 25 year olds are managed through the County Safeguarding 

approach. People in this age range are often subject to different approaches 

based on their age not need. 

4.6 To review Youth Justice and how it impacts on individuals who may have a lower 

mental age or complex needs and how they are treated within the system.   

4.7 To review crime reduction including : 

4.7.1 Priorities / area profile  

4.7.2 Youth offending  

4.7.3 Vulnerable groups 

4.7.4 Drugs and alcohol 

4.7.5 Support for victims 

4.8 To review the links between Community Safety, Safeguarding and Safeguarding 

Boards  

 

5. Not in scope 

5.1 Those partnerships not identified within the whole systems information provided   

 

6. Output 

6.1 Phase 1 : Interim Report - (within 6 weeks of commencement) 

6.2 Phase 2 : Final Report – ( within 10 weeks of commencement)   

 

7. Oversight 

7.1 Oversight of this review will be conducted by the Community Safety Steering 

Group  

 

 

Page 59



36 
 

8. Publication and Timeline 

Activity Owner Date 

Approval and Funding of 
Review  

Leadership 
Gloucestershire 

28 April 2016 

Commissioning of Review  Richard Bradley (RB) 29 April 2016 

Review Commences RB / John Bensted (JB) 23 May 2016 

Interim Report @ 6 weeks RB / JB  4 July 2016 

Final report @ 10 weeks RB / JB 22 August 2016 

Consultation on Review RB / JB 5 September to 3 
October 2016 

Refine Review  RB/JB 4 to 18 October 
2016  

Presentation to LG RB /JB   27 October 2016 

Implementation RB and Steering Group 28 October onwards 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



37 
 

APENDIX B: GCSP Briefing Note 030516 
 
 

Briefing Note: Review of Community Safety in Gloucestershire 
 
 
Why are we conducting a review? 
 
Strategies to reduce crime and help people to feel safe need to operate at both a local 

level and at a strategic level whether this is countywide or from a national perspective. In 

Gloucestershire this requires partners at both district and county to work together and to 

be clear about their respective responsibilities. The secret of success is to get a clear, 

integrated and cohesive strategy in place which can be dovetailed into each local 

community. 

When the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 was implemented and in particular section 17, 

each local authority was given the authority to formulate a strategy to reduce crime and 

disorder and to work with appropriate authorities including the Police, Health and 

Probation in order to achieve this. To enable this Crime and Disorder Partnerships 

(CDRPs) were created to carry out a three year crime and disorder strategy and to 

regularly audit this. Section 17 was arguably the most radical element of the Act as it 

highlighted the notion of shared responsibility for crime reduction across a wide range of 

local authority services.  

Gloucestershire currently has six Community Safety Partnerships (Formerly CDRPs) 

based within each of the District Council areas respectively that includes or has included 

members from the County Council, Probation, Fire and Rescue, Police and Health.     

The recent introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners (2012), changes to the 

Health Service structures and changes to Probation have introduced major change to the 

partnership landscape. The impact of this could have created some benefit but in many 

cases have caused fragmentation within CSPs as each new partner has their own 

strategy that does not always interface.  

There is a need to ensure we have resilient communities, are able to harness support 

and, that our communities receive an efficient and cohesive response from public 

agencies when needed. There is now a requirement to think differently about the way in 

which we approach Community Safety in Gloucestershire and this review will contribute 

to a new approach that will: 

 Provide strategic governance 

 Deliver a coordinated response and direction at a local level 

 Provide an interface to key partners, strategies and plans that will maximise 

effectiveness and efficiency  

 Create a safer Gloucestershire   

 
Who will be consulted? 
 
A consultation process, including a series of interviews will be held with all 
stakeholders including: 

 Partnerships 

 Partner agencies 

Page 61



38 
 

 Voluntary Sector 

 Community 

 Victims 
 
Who will co-ordinate the interviews? 
 
The interviews will be co-ordinated by Joanna Szymanska, Commissioning Officer, 
OPCC, who will arrange convenient interview dates.  
 
Joanna.szymanska@gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk Tel No: 01452 752589       
 
Who will be conducting the review? 
 
An independent consultant, John Bensted, has been appointed to conduct this review 
and will work to a defined Terms of Reference.  
 
Who will provide oversight during the review period? 
 
This will be provided by the Community Safety steering group, a representative group 
comprising members from key stakeholder groups.  
 
What will be the timeframe for the review? 
 
It is expected that the review will commence in Mid-May with an interim report 
produced 6 weeks later, a final report will be available by early September. 
 
An implementation phase will then commence in Autumn 2016 based on the 
recommendations of the review.  
 
 
Richard Bradley 
Deputy Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62

mailto:Joanna.szymanska@gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Chief Executive's report
	7 Community Safety Review - update
	GCSR Final Report - Version 7


